FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/31/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/30/2024 1:00 PM

Case #: 1035900

NO. 85972-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION ONE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD HARTNETT,

Appellant,

٧.

# WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jonathan S. Burr, WSBA No. 43615 Attorney for Appellant, Edward Hartnett

Washington Law Center 651 Strander Blvd. Bldg. B, Suite 215 Tukwila, WA 98188 Ph: (206) 596-7888

Fax: (206) 457-4900

jburr@washingtonlawcenter.com

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Edward Hartnett is a Washington State injured worker who asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision, and shall be designated henceforth as the Petitioner.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision in Cause No. 85972-2-I on September 30, 2024. A copy of the decision is attached to this petition at A - 001 through 008.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the language on a Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") Notice of Decision, requiring a written appeal to be filed with the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board"), mislead a worker to pursue an appeal in an improper venue, when instead a Civil Rule ("CR") 60 motion in Superior Court was required to vacate a misunderstood settlement agreement?

Does a worker knowingly sit on his hands for years by not filing a motion to vacate under CR 60 when he is simply following the directions written on the Department Notice of Decision to appeal to the Board?

Does public policy favor the Court taking independent action in a matter pursuant to CR 60(c), regardless of time, when a worker has pursued an appeal, albeit in an improper venue, in accordance with the directions on a Department Notice of Decision?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

#### A. Procedural History

On October 25, 2016, the Snohomish County Superior Court issued a judgment and order. On November 23, 2016, the Department issued an order closing Mr. Hartnett's claim. This order was challenged by Mr. Hartnett's doctor. On February 14, 2017, the Department issued an order reopening the claim effective December 6, 2016. On March 7, 2017, the Department affirmed the February order, and on March 23, 2017 Mr. Hartnett appealed this order to the Board. Mr. Hartnett continued litigation before the Board in his case until he hired Washington Law Center October 4, 2022.

On May 15, 2023, Mr. Hartnett filed his first motion to vacate pursuant to CR60. On July 10, 2023, Mr. Hartnett's motion was denied without prejudice. On August 8, 2023, Mr. Hartnett filed his second motion to vacate. On October 12, 2023, Mr. Hartnett's second motion was denied. On November 1, 2023, Mr. Hartnett appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division One.

#### **B.** Substantive Facts

Mr. Hartnett contends the Department misrepresented the terms of his settlement in 2016. He was not advised that he would lose financial

compensation in his work injury claim under RCW 51.32.160, and was told by the Department representative he would still receive financial benefits in the future. See CP at 205.1

However, as a result of the October 25, 2016 order, Mr. Hartnett's claim was directed to be closed. *Id.* Given that his claim began in 2001 and closed in 2008, this caused the claim to become "over seven" thus eliminating financial benefits under the claim. CP at 204-05. The Department's November 23, 2016 order closed the claim, and contained language stating that the decision should be appealed to the Board, not Snohomish County Superior Court. CP at 205, 210. Until 2022, when Mr. Hartnett hired the Washington Law Center, he has continued to take his challenges to the Board, as had been directed by the Department. CP at 48-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to "CP" refers to the Clerk's Papers.

#### V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will be accepted if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. When determining whether the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, the Court looks at three factors: "(1) whether the issue is of public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur." Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wn.2d 277, 286, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994)(quoting Hart v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 111 Wn.2d 445, 445, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988)).

The issue before this Court involves proper notice to a worker, and the misleading language on a Department order issued pursuant to a Superior Court settlement agreement. This case presents a situation in which, objectively, an injured worker would reasonably believe the proper venue would be the Board instead of filing a motion to vacate in Superior Court. Although there is a time and place for boilerplate language by the Department in order to comply with run-of-the-mill notices and decision appeal rights, a distinction should be made for Department orders issued pursuant to Superior Court involvement. Such issues are likely to recur in many workers' compensation claims whenever a higher-level court is

brought into play. The Court of Appeals simply ignored, or inadvertently bypassed, this issue.

# A. Protecting injured workers' rights and pursuing the purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act are issues of a public nature.

The courts have consistently held that the Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA") is broadly interpreted in favor of workers; and because the IIA "is remedial in nature," it must be "liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." *Street v. Weyerhaeuser*, 189 Wn.2d 187, 195, 399 P.3d 1156 (2017); *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 475 P.2d 1295 (1987); *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 1442 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001); *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Granger*, 159 Wn.2d 752, 757, 153 P.3d 839 (2007) (citing RCW 51.12.010). The "overarching objective" of the Act is to reduce to a minimum "the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." *Cockle*, 142 Wn.2d at 822. With this liberal remediation principle in mind, both the legislature and the courts have traditionally expanded, not restricted or prohibited, coverage under the IIA. *Street*, 189 Wn.2d at 195.

The language in Civil Rule 60(b) authorizes Courts to vacate judgments for misrepresentations and for any other reasons that would

justify relief within a reasonable time. Civil Rule 60(c) allows the Court to take action to vacate independently, regardless of time. The Department order from November 2016, clearly stated that the worker's appeals or challenges should be filed with the Board, not Superior Court – thus Petitioner received improper notice excusing any time lapse. CP at 210.

If this Court maintains and expands the "overarching objective" of the Act by expanding and not restricting coverage, then this Court should interpret the language on the Department closing order as a misrepresentation for purposes of notifying Petitioner of the proper venue in which to seek relief within a reasonable time. *Id.* Instead, Petitioner should have been directed by the Department to go back to Superior Court in order to vacate the judgment, not to inappropriately pursue his relief with the Board as he did for several years. CP at 49.

B. Civil Rule 60(c) allows the Court to vacate judgments under an independent action, and does not require a motion to vacate be filed within a reasonable time.

The motion to vacate judgment was brought before Superior Court pursuant to CR60. This Court has the jurisdiction and power to independently vacate the judgment, regardless of the findings at Superior Court. Public policy should guide the Court in this case to create a distinction in boilerplate language applied to Department orders issued

pursuant to higher-level Court directives, thereby informing workers and giving them proper notice of the venue in which they should seek remedies.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals decision, and vacate the order dated October 25, 2016. For the reasons stated herein, the Superior Court abused its discretion by not recognizing the mistaken information relied upon by Mr. Hartnett. Additionally, the Court of Appeals failed to address the issue of language directing venue to the Board instead of Superior Court. A decision in petitioner's favor serves the public policy of preventing other injured workers' from inadvertently pursuing their challenges to Department orders in improper venues.

The undersigned certifies the <u>word count</u> for this document, exclusive of words contained in the appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, and certificate of compliance, as 1,340.