FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/31/2024 8:32 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103590-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD HARTNETT,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Kaitlin L. Loomis Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 58145 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-5346

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the unremarkable situation of a party failing to act promptly to argue for CR 60 relief. After notification in February 2017, January 2019, and January 2020 that his workers' compensation claim would be treated as an "over seven" claim, Edward Hartnett waited until 2023 to seek CR 60 relief from a judgment memorializing a settlement agreement that caused his claim to become "over seven." The trial court did not abuse its discretion to decline CR 60 relief given the gap in time, and nothing warrants review of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the superior court abuse its discretion when it denied Hartnett's 2023 motion to vacate the 2016 superior court order when Hartnett knew in 2017 that a consequence to his settlement was that he could only receive "over seven" benefits?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Hartnett's Claim Was an "Over Seven" Claim

In 2001, Hartnett suffered an industrial injury while working as a journeyman carpenter. CP 204. L&I allowed Hartnett's workers' compensation claim and provided treatment until it first closed his claim in May 2009. CP 139, 141–43, 204, 207.

After L&I closes a worker's claim, RCW 51.32.160 allows the worker to apply to reopen the claim. If more than seven years have passed since the first closing order on a worker's claim became final, the worker is normally only eligible for medical treatment if the claim is reopened. *See* RCW 51.32.160(1)(a).

Such claims are known as "over seven" claims. But L&I's Director may, on a purely discretionary basis, find the worker eligible for disability benefits (e.g., time loss) despite the claim's status as an "over seven" claim. *Dep't of Lab.* &

Indus. v. Higgins, 21 Wn. App. 2d 268, 270–71, 275, 505 P.3d 579 (2022).

In late 2011, Hartnett successfully applied to have his claim reopened and received three years of treatment. CP 146–47. At that time, his claim was not an "over seven" claim and he could claim disability benefits. L&I issued orders denying time loss benefits from March 17, 2014, through July 14, 2014, and it provided for a mental health disability award. CP 147–48. Hartnett appealed to the Board, which affirmed. CP 69–76, 148.

Hartnett appealed to superior court, where counsel represented him. CP 78, 224–25. Hartnett and L&I agreed to settle the case by keeping the claim closed in exchange for time loss benefits and an increased mental health disability award. CP 224–25. In October 2016, the superior court issued an agreed order remanding the case to L&I to implement the settlement agreement. CP 224–25. The court's order specified that L&I's "order will be considered ministerial in nature and

the parties have agreed that no appeal will be taken from that order." CP 225. Hartnett's counsel signed the order. CP 225.

In November 2016, L&I issued the ministerial order that paid the additional permanent partial disability benefits to Hartnett. CP 148, 210. The order was communicated to Hartnett's attorney, and contrary to Hartnett's claims at Pet. 4, L&I's ministerial order included a distinction identifying that it was issued pursuant to superior court involvement, stating, "[t]he following action is taken to comply with the decision of the Snohomish County Superior Court dated 10/26/16." CP 210. It also contained L&I's boilerplate appeal rights language, consistent with RCW 51.52.050(1), stating that the order would become final within 60 days if there was no request for reconsideration or appeal filed. CP 210.

The combination of the superior court order, the ministerial purpose, and the appeal language would allow Hartnett to appeal to the Board if the order did not reflect the

October 2016 superior court order, but would not allow an appeal to the Board to contest the merits of the settlement.

B. In February 2017, January 2019, and January 2020 Hartnett Was Alerted that His Claim Was "Over Seven" as a Result of the 2016 Settlement

Hartnett applied to reopen his claim in January 2017, which L&I permitted for medical treatment only. CP 86, 148. If Hartnett sought any other benefits, they would have been granted only at the discretion of L&I's director because Hartnett's claim was an "over seven" reopening. CP 86. (The first date of closure was May 2009, more than seven years before the reopening application in January 2017. CP 101, 86; see also CP 148.) Hartnett appealed the February 2017 reopening order to the Board. CP 148–49.

In June 2018, Hartnett moved for summary judgment with the Board, arguing that he should be relieved of the "over seven" status because he had not realized that the 2016 settlement would render his claim "over seven." CP 104.

In December 2018, the Board sent Hartnett the proposed decision on his appeal, which denied his motion. CP 104–07. Hartnett's petition for the Board to review the decisions was denied in January 2019, making the order final. CP 114. Hartnett did not appeal the administrative decision to the superior court. *See* CP 149–50.

In January 2020, L&I's director determined that discretion would not be exercised to provide nonmedical benefits. CP 149. Hartnett then engaged in litigation to compel L&I's director to exercise discretion to provide disability benefits. CP 149–50, 155–61, 169, 173–74.

C. Hartnett Waited Until 2023 to Ask the Superior Court to Vacate the 2016 Settlement Under CR 60(b)

In May 2023, more than six and a half years after the superior court issued its 2016 order, Hartnett filed his CR 60 motion to have the 2016 settlement vacated. CP 217–21.

Hartnett renewed the motion in August 2023 with the same requests. CP 40–46. Hartnett asserted the motion was filed within a reasonable time because he was unaware of, or misled

as to, the "over seven" implications when he agreed to the 2016 settlement, he had been challenging the 2016 settlement regularly since 2017, L&I was not prejudiced by the delay, and he filed the CR 60 motion as soon as he learned that it was the proper method to challenge the order. CP 45–46.

The superior court denied Hartnett's motion, finding that he did not bring the motion within a reasonable time under CR 60(b). CP 21. The court ruled that Hartnett was on notice of the effects of the "over seven" claim, finding "he was fully aware of the legal consequences of the 2016 settlement." CP 15.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court, agreeing that "[n]othing in the record excuses such a lengthy delay in waiting to file a CR 60 motion." *Hartnett v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, No. 85972-2-I, slip op. at 7 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2024) (unpublished). The Court discussed that there were triggering events in February 2017, June 2018, and January 2019 that signaled Hartnett's awareness of the effects of the 2016 settlement, and Hartnett's CR 60 motion submitted

in 2023 "is untimely as to any one of them." *Hartnett*, slip op. at 7.

Hartnett seeks review.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Denying a 2023 Request Under CR 60(b) for an Event Triggered in 2017

There is no issue of substantial public interest in the denial of a CR 60(b) motion filed six years after the triggering event. CR 60(b) requires that a "motion shall be made within a reasonable time." Courts look for "a triggering event" that would cause the "moving party [to] seek[] to vacate" the order. *In re Marriage of Thurston*, 92 Wn. App. 494, 500, 963 P.2d 947 (1998). Here, there were several potential triggering dates, starting in 2017 when L&I determined that Harnett had an "over seven" claim, CP 86; in 2018 when Hartnett argued that he shouldn't have an "over seven" claim because he had not realized the 2016 settlement would render his claim "over seven," CP 104; in 2019 when he didn't appeal the Board's

rejection of this argument, CP 114, 149–50; and in January 2020 through April 2021 when L&I denied "over seven" benefits and Hartnett disputed the merits of L&I's exercise of discretion. CP 119, 149–50, 155–61. It is not an abuse of discretion to find an undue lapse from these triggering events. Nor was it an abuse of discretion to find that L&I would be prejudiced by the unwinding of a settlement, in which it had paid substantial monetary benefits to Hartnett and had proceeded to adjudicate his claim on the premise that the settlement was valid, several years after the agreement was made and benefits paid.

The trial court appropriately denied Hartnett's 2023 motion as untimely, and there is no basis for this Court to review the COA's determination that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in doing so.

B. L&I Was Under No Obligation to Advise Harnett About the Civil Rules

Harnett offers only one reason for review, claiming that a ministerial order of L&I misled him because it did not tell him

he had to move to vacate under CR 60 to get relief. Pet. 1, 5–6. Nonsense.

The superior court directed L&I to pay Harnett benefits by issuing a ministerial order, and the parties agreed that this order would not be appealed. CP 225. The ministerial order, as directed by RCW 51.52.050, included the standard Board appeal rights. These appeal rights would have allowed Harnett to argue to the Board that L&I's ministerial order did not implement the superior court order, but under the parties' agreement, it would not allow Harnett to contest the merits of the settlement in a Board appeal.

Harnett argues that L&I should have directed him "to go back to Superior Court in order to vacate the judgement." Pet. 6. But this language is not required by RCW 51.52.050. And he cites no authority obligating an administrative agency to provide notice of the ability to file a CR 60 motion under the civil rules. Indeed, unawareness of a legal remedy doesn't excuse a party from failing to act. *See, e.g., Retired Pub. Emps.*

Council v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 104 Wn. App. 147, 152, 16 P.3d 65 (2001).

Harnett also cites CR 60(c), Pet. 6–7, but this rule applies only when there is a separate action filed, which isn't the case here. *Hartnett*, slip op. at 7–8.

V. CONCLUSION

Hartnett identifies no issue meriting this Court's review.

The Court should deny Hartnett's petition.

This document contains 1,741 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.